DA 8.30-88 32  
14 aff.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED  
SID J. WHITE

MAY 18 1988

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 71,682

Deputy Clerk

JOHN S. ROE,

Petitioner,

vs.

AMICA MUTUAL INSURANCE CO.,

Respondent.

---

PETITIONER'S INITIAL  
BRIEF ON THE MERITS

---

THOMAS M. ERVIN, JR.  
and  
E. C. DEENO KITCHEN  
of the law firm of  
Ervin, Varn, Jacobs,  
Odom & Kitchen  
Post Office Drawer 1170  
Tallahassee, FL 32302  
(904)224-9135

AND

W. JAMES KELLY  
and  
C. KENNETH STUART, JR.  
of W. James Kelly, P.A.  
Post Office Box 2177  
Lakeland, FL 33806-2177  
(813)688-2405

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER  
JOHN S. ROE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

These proceedings are before this Court on conflict with Berger v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 515 So.2d 997 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). By Order of April 8, 1988, this Court accepted jurisdiction for review on the merits.

Though jurisdictionally unnecessary, the case is also of great public importance, for it presents for review the validity, construction and means of application of a common automobile insurance policy clause whereby the insurer is authorized to unilaterally require arbitration of all uninsured or underinsured claims by the insured, and then unilaterally reject any arbitration award to the insured exceeding \$10,000, and demand trial as to damages.

Petitioner urges that the provision authorizing the insurer to unilaterally reject such an arbitration award and demand trial on amount of damages is contrary to Florida

law and public policy, and is, therefore, invalid. Alternatively, petitioner urges that in the instant case the arbitration rejection privilege was erroneously construed and was not timely invoked by the insurer in the manner required by Florida law.

Petitioner urges that, on either ground, the arbitration award of \$225,735 on his behalf should have been confirmed, and the trial court and district court erred in holding to the contrary. That error should be reversed and corrected by this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

These proceedings involve the validity of the following insurance policy provision regarding resolution by arbitration of any dispute between the insured and insurer concerning underinsured motorist benefits:

Arbitration: If we and a covered person do not agree: 1. Whether that person is legally entitled to recover damages under this Part; or 2. As to the amount of damages; either party may make a written demand for arbitration. In this event, each party will select an arbitrator. The two arbitrators will select a third. If they cannot agree within 30 days, either may request that selection be made by a judge of a court having jurisdiction. Each party will: 1. Pay the expenses it incurs; and 2. Bear the expenses of the third arbitrator equally. Unless both parties agree otherwise, arbitration will take place in the county in which the covered person lives. Local rules of law as to procedure and evidence will apply. A decision agreed to by two of the arbitrators will be binding as to: 1. Whether the covered person is legally entitled to recover damages; and 2. The amount of damages. This applies only if the amount does not exceed the minimum limit for bodily injury liability specified by the financial responsibility law of the state in which your covered auto is principally garaged. If the amount exceeds that limit, either party may demand the right to a trial. This demand must be made within 60 days of the arbitrators' decision. If this demand is not made, the amount of damages agreed to by the arbitrators will be binding. (Emphasis supplied.)

At issue is the validity, construction and manner of application of the above-emphasized provision which authorizes the insurer to unilaterally reject any arbitration award exceeding \$10,000 and demand trial.

On September 24, 1984, petitioner, John S. Roe, was involved in an automobile/bicycle collision in which

he sustained personal injuries. After resolving a claim with the third party tortfeasor, Mr. Roe made a claim for underinsured motorist benefits pursuant to his policy of insurance with respondent, Amica Mutual Insurance Company (hereinafter "Amica" or respondent).

The parties agreed to submit the claim of petitioner (as well as that of Mrs. Roe, which is not at issue herein) to arbitration. Arbitration hearing was held on June 23, 1986, after which an arbitration award was entered wherein petitioner was awarded \$225,735 for personal injuries sustained in the accident, and petitioner's wife on her claim was awarded \$40,000 (R 3). A copy of the arbitration award entered June 27, 1986, is included in the appendix to this brief (A 1).

By letter of July 25, 1986, from respondent's counsel to petitioner's counsel, respondent Amica purported to unilaterally reject the arbitration award to petitioner, John S. Roe, and demand trial as to the issue of petitioner's damages (R 89). A copy of said letter is included in the appendix to this brief (A 2). No pertinent action was taken by respondent within 90 days of the arbitration award, other than forwarding of the referenced letter to counsel for petitioner, John S. Roe.

On October 3, 1986, petitioner filed his Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award, which motion also sought confirmation of the arbitration award to Mrs. Roe (R 1-3). The



circuit court entered judgment on December 31, 1986 (filed January 5, 1987) wherein the arbitration award to petitioner, John S. Roe, was not confirmed on the ground that counsel for respondent wrote counsel for petitioner within 60 days of the arbitration award and demanded trial as to petitioner's claim (R 29-30). A copy of the judgment is included in the appendix to this brief (A 3-4). The judgment confirmed the arbitration award as to Patricia Roe, there having been no timely letter of rejection or motion to vacate, correct or modify as to said award (A 3-4).

After denial of motions for rehearing (R 31-76; 77-78; 84), appeal and cross appeal were taken to the District Court of Appeal, Second District of Florida (R 85; R 87).

By Opinion of December 2, 1987, the district court affirmed. Amica Mutual Insurance Company v. John S. Roe, et ux., 12 F.L.W. 2772 (Fla. 2d DCA - December 2, 1987). The district court held, in pertinent part, that the policy provision at issue contractually authorized respondent to unilaterally reject any arbitration award to petitioner in excess of \$10,000, and did not contravene either Chapter 682, Florida Statutes (Florida Arbitration Code) or Florida public policy in so providing. The district court held that the letter to petitioner's counsel, without more, was sufficient to effectively reject the arbitration award to petitioner and entitle respondent to trial. A copy of the

decision of the district court is included in the appendix to this brief (A 5-10).

The provisions of Chapter 682, Fla. Stat., pertinent to these proceedings are set forth in the appendix to this brief (A 11-12). These include §§682.02, 682.12, 682.13, 682.14 and 682.15, Fla. Stat. In summary, §682.02, Fla. Stat., provides that parties may agree, or contract, to submit existing or future controversies between them to arbitration, and further provides in pertinent part:

Such agreement or provision shall be valid, enforceable and irrevocable without regard to the justiciable character of the controversy; provided that this law shall not apply to any such agreement or provision to arbitrate in which it is stipulated that this law shall not apply or to any arbitration or award thereunder.

Section 682.12, Fla. Stat., provides for judicial confirmation of arbitration awards and commands that:

Upon application of a party to the arbitration, the court shall confirm an award, unless within the time limits hereinafter imposed grounds are urged for vacating or modifying or correcting the award, in which case the court shall proceed as provided in §§ 682.13 and 682.14.

Section 682.13, Fla. Stat., sets forth specific, limited grounds for "vacating" an arbitration award, and §682.14, Fla. Stat., sets forth separate, limited grounds for "modification or correction" of an award. Both require an "application" of the party seeking such relief to be submitted within 90 days of receipt of a copy of the arbitration award by the applicant.

It is undisputed that no "application" urging "grounds" as required and limited by §§628.12-14, Fla. Stat., was timely, or ever, submitted in these proceedings (see A 3, Judgment, para. 1) on behalf of respondent. Only respondent's letter to petitioner's counsel was offered, and accepted by the courts below, as the basis of denial of confirmation of the arbitration award to petitioner.

The district court, in its decision below, acknowledged conflict with a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Third District of Florida. In Berger v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 515 So.2d 997 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), the Third District held that an identical policy provision contravened both the Florida Arbitration Code and Florida public policy and was, therefore, invalid. In the instant case the Second District held that such a provision contravened neither. The direct conflict, as acknowledged, is clear.

Upon proper invocation of jurisdiction by petitioner, this Court entered its Order of April 8, 1988, accepting jurisdiction.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The instant decision should be reversed. The contract provision in question is contrary to Florida public policy and the Florida Arbitration Code in its attempt to render arbitration awards exceeding \$10,000 non-binding at the unilateral, groundless election of the insurer.

Florida public policy recognizes that the very essence of arbitration is an agreement to be bound by the factual determination of the arbitrators and thus end the factual controversy. Bankers & Shippers Insurance Company v. Gonzalez, 234 So.2d 693 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970). This public policy is reflected in the Florida Arbitration Code, which authorizes such agreements for arbitration and renders such agreements, and arbitration awards, irrevocable and enforceable except upon "application" and showing of carefully limited grounds. §§682.02, 682.12-14, Fla. Stat.

Section 682.02, Fla. Stat., does provide for arbitration agreements which "stipulate" that the Florida Arbitration Code "shall not apply." The instant agreement does not so provide or stipulate. Instead, it purports to modify or circumvent the requirements of §§682.12-14, Fla. Stat., by granting to the insurer an unauthorized right to unilaterally and at will reject and avoid confirmation of any arbitration award exceeding \$10,000.

The provision purporting to authorize respondent to reject an arbitration award exceeding \$10,000 unilaterally

and at will is contrary to Florida law and public policy, and invalid. Berger v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 515 So.2d 997 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). The provision should be stricken, with instruction that upon remand the arbitration award to petitioner be confirmed and reduced to judgment. §§682.12, 682.15, Fla. Stat.

The decision below, and denial of confirmation, should alternatively be reversed on the facts of this case. Respondent did not merely enter into the contract in question, but also agreed after the controversy arose that the dispute and damages be submitted to arbitration. Arbitration was actually conducted and completed. Thereafter, respondent did not within 90 days as required by law [§§682.12-14, Fla. Stat.] submit any "application" to any court seeking to modify or vacate the arbitration award on either statutory or contractual grounds. Rather, respondent merely forwarded petitioner's attorney a letter (A 2).

The subject arbitration "escape" clause, if not declared invalid and stricken, must be construed as incorporating existing Florida law. Department of Insurance v. Teachers Ins. Co., 404 So.2d 735, 741 (Fla. 1981). Proper construction of the contract incorporates the requirements and limits of §§682.12-14, Fla. Stat., as the means and grounds for post-arbitration demand for trial. Respondent wholly failed to meet these requirements.

Where respondent agreed to arbitration and thereafter failed to file any court "application" to vacate or modify as required by law within 90 days, it could not thereafter challenge the arbitrators' award. See Burt v. Duval County School Board, 481 So.2d 55 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Dairyland Insurance Company v. Hudnall, 279 So.2d 905 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973). The decision below holding to the contrary should be reversed with instruction that upon remand the arbitration award be confirmed and reduced to judgment.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE CONTRACT PROVISION AUTHORIZING THE INSURER TO UNILATERALLY REJECT AT WILL ANY ARBITRATION AWARD EXCEEDING \$10,000 IS CONTRARY TO THE FLORIDA ARBITRATION CODE AND PUBLIC POLICY AND IS, THEREFORE, INVALID AND INOPERATIVE.

This point involves the validity of an insurance contract clause which provides for arbitration of insurer-insured disputes as to underinsured motorist benefits, and then purports to authorize the insurer to unilaterally reject any arbitration award which exceeds the statutory minimum limit for bodily injury liability, or \$10,000.

In the instant case petitioner was injured in an automobile/bicycle collision. Thereafter, petitioner made a claim for underinsured motorist benefits against his insurer, respondent Amica Mutual Insurance Company. The parties agreed to submit the dispute to arbitration. Arbitration proceedings were thereafter conducted. In those proceedings there were no disputed issues as to coverage or liability.

The appointed arbitrators, on June 27, 1986, returned an arbitration award of \$225,735 in favor of petitioner (A 1). Respondent did not pay said award but instead, on July 25, 1986, delivered to petitioner's attorney a letter which stated in pertinent part:

Amica's policy applicable to the above loss gives it the right to demand a trial where the amount of damages awarded by the arbitrators under the UM coverage exceeds the minimum limit of liability specified by the financial responsibility law. In the event that you were not aware of this provision, I am enclosing a sample copy of Amica's policy, including its Florida UM endorsement. Please take a look at the arbitration provision of the Florida UM endorsement that is on the third from the last page of the policy.

Amica has instructed me to invoke that provision, and on its behalf, we demand a trial with reference to Mr. Roe's damages, pursuant to the policy provision.

(A 2)

Respondent did not, however, file or submit any judicial application seeking to have the subject arbitration award modified or vacated as required by §§682.12-14, Fla. Stat. Respondent's failure to submit a judicial application as required by law will be treated in Point II of this brief.

The focus of this point is the invalidity of the contractual clause which purports to authorize respondent, after arbitration, to unilaterally and at will reject any arbitration award exceeding \$10,000, even though said award is clearly within coverage of uninsured motorist benefits provided by contract.

Petitioner respectfully urges that the provision is contrary to Florida law and public policy respecting the very nature of arbitration and is, therefore, invalid and unenforceable.

Under Florida law arbitration is clearly favored as a means of dispute resolution, and every reasonable



presumption is indulged to uphold proceedings resulting in an award. Beach Resorts Intern. v. Clarmac Marine Const. Co., 339 So.2d 689 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976).

In Broward County Paraprofessional Association v. McComb, 394 So.2d 471 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), it was held in pertinent part at page 472 that:

An arbitrator's award is entitled to a high degree of conclusiveness and should be disturbed only when a clear showing has been made that the arbitrator has exceeded the authority granted to him.

In the instant proceeding no issues of liability or coverage were disputed, and the issue submitted to arbitration was the determination and award of the amount of damages suffered by petitioner. Determination of amount of damages is clearly a matter properly submitted to arbitration, and properly determined by arbitration.

While there are statutorily authorized, and limited, procedures for vacating and modifying arbitrator's awards [§§682.12-14, Fla. Stat.], the law of Florida recognizes that:

The very essence of an arbitration is an agreement to be bound by the factual determination of the arbitrator and thus end the factual controversy.

Bankers & Shippers Insurance Company v. Gonzalez, 234 So.2d 693 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970)

To the same effect is Travelers Insurance Company v. Lockett, 279 So.2d 885 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), wherein the court further held at page 886:

It has long been established in this state that a valid agreement to arbitrate the amount of damages between an insured and insurer, and a subsequent award thereon is binding on the parties . . . Moreover, such an agreement to arbitrate is governed by the provisions of the Florida Arbitration Code and the procedures for challenging the propriety or regularity of the award or proceedings are set out specifically therein. . . . (Citations omitted.)

The instant agreement seeks to pervert the very essence of arbitration by its escape clause which provides:

This [binding nature] applies only if the amount does not exceed the minimum limit for bodily injury liability specified by the financial responsibility law of the state in which your covered auto is principally garaged. [Florida - \$10,000] If the amount exceeds that limit, either party may demand the right to a trial. If this demand is not made, the amount of damages agreed to by the arbitrators will be binding. (Bracketed information supplied.)

(A 6)

Thus, the provision seeks to destroy the very essence of arbitration by making the arbitration award non-binding at will and unilaterally if it exceeds \$10,000, even though fully within coverage and contract benefits provided.

Furthermore, the provision is directly contrary to the commands of §§682.12, 682.13 and 682.14, Fla. Stat. Florida law provides in §682.12, Fla. Stat., that arbitration awards shall be judicially confirmed, unless a challenge by application to vacate or modify is timely filed (90 days), urging grounds set forth in either §682.13 or §682.14, Fla. Stat. (A 11).

Section 682.13, Fla. Stat., sets forth five separate defined grounds for vacating an arbitration award (A 11). Those grounds represent the public policy of Florida as enunciated by the legislature. Those grounds do not include, or allow, an arbitration proceeding or award to be vacated or rejected by a party at will if some fixed sum is exceeded.

Section 682.14, Fla. Stat., sets forth three separate grounds for modification or correction of an arbitration award (A 12). Those grounds do not include, or allow, an arbitration proceeding or award to be modified by a party at will if some fixed sum is exceeded.

As will be treated more fully in Point II, respondent in these proceedings neither filed any timely application to vacate or modify as required by §682.12, Fla. Stat., nor ever asserted any recognized ground to vacate or modify as required by §§682.13-14, Fla. Stat.

The error of the district court, and of the trial court in denying confirmation, is clear. Those courts effectively held that respondent could enjoy the benefits of arbitration (and unilaterally impose the procedure on petitioner if it so chose) and then remove the very essence or nature of arbitration by reserving the right to unilaterally reject at will a displeasing arbitration award. The courts effectively allowed respondent to amend or modify by contract §682.13, Fla. Stat., and add an additional ground to the effect that:

The insurer may at will have vacated any arbitration award exceeding \$10,000.

Neither Florida law nor public policy allows such a provision. The district court erred in holding that this matter was resolved in respondent's favor by mere reference to contract. The right to contract in Florida is not without limits. It has been recognized and held time and again that a contract provision will not be enforced by the courts where to do so will violate the fixed, strong or settled public policy of the state in which enforcement is sought. Title & Trust Co. of Florida v. Parker, 468 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Thomas v. Ratiner, 462 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

It is equally well established under Florida law that the public policy of a state is the law of the state whether found in its constitution, statutes, judicial records or otherwise. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Beazley, 54 Fla. 311, 45 So. 761, 785-86 (1907). Thus, both Florida appellate decisions favoring and defining the binding nature of arbitration, and provisions of Chapter 682, Florida Statutes, limiting the grounds for vacating an arbitration award, are part of the public policy of Florida. The district court erred in disregarding this public policy and enforcing an "escape" clause which was directly in violation of such public policy.

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