IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE

JUN 3 1988

CLERK SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. *Deputy Clerk*

28
~~28~~
H-*per*
19-*copy*
case

JOHN S. ROE,

Petitioner,

vs.

AMICA MUTUAL INSURANCE CO.,

Respondent.

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF
ON THE MERITS**

**MANUEL J. ALVAREZ, Esq. and
MATTHEW R. DANAHY, Esq. of
Mitchell, Alley, Rywant
& Vessel, P. A.
707 Franklin Street Mall
Post Office Box 2003
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 229-7009
Fla. Bar #606693
Attorneys for AMICA MUTUAL
INSURANCE COMPANY**

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The underlying decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in the instant case should be affirmed and adopted by this Court. The contract provision in question is neither contrary to Florida public policy or the Florida Arbitration Code. The arbitration clause agreed to by the parties allows either party to request arbitration, and provides that arbitration awards less than \$10,000.00 will be binding. The Arbitration Code would not be applicable where, as in this case, the parties stipulated to its inapplicability. In such case, the dispute could be tried if either party's demand was made within sixty days of the arbitrators' award. Such a demand was timely made in this case.

Section 682.02, Florida Statutes, (1985), provides that arbitration agreements may stipulate the Florida Arbitration Code shall not apply. The arbitration clause in dispute does contain such a stipulation. It provides that arbitration awards in excess of \$10,000.00 will not be binding. This does not create a unilateral right on the part of an insurer to reject an arbitration award exceeding \$10,000.00. Rather, it allows either party to request arbitration and either party to seek a jury trial as to damages should the arbitration award exceed \$10,000.00. This benefits the insured at least as much as the insurer in that should the insured be dissatisfied with an arbitration award slightly over \$10,000.00, the insured may also request a jury trial as to the amount of damages.

In the instant case, counsel for Roe was fully aware of the policy language and the terms and conditions upon which arbitration would be held. Nevertheless, he demanded arbitration in his letter of January 21, 1986. (SA1) Amica then complied with the demand, and proceeded with arbitration under the terms of the arbitration clause.

Petitioner could have brought a declaratory action, and moved for summary judgment seeking a determination that the arbitration provision was invalid and unenforceable, as was done in the case of Berger v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 515 So.2d 997 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). Instead, counsel for Petitioner demanded arbitration and proceeded to arbitration without protest. The arbitration clause was clear and evident upon the reading of the policy. Petitioner should now be estopped from arguing that the arbitration clause is invalid and that the arbitration clause, and its limitations should not be binding.

Amica's demand for jury trial was sufficient. The letter from Amica's counsel to Roes' counsel complied with the valid requirements of the arbitration agreement. It was made, and was received within sixty days of the arbitration award. The contract provision entered between the parties contemplated that awards in excess of \$10,000.00 would not be subject to the Florida Arbitration Code. Therefore, the provisions of the code concerning vacating, modifying or correcting an arbitration award are not applicable and the demand for jury trial was timely and properly made.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE CONTRACT PROVISION AUTHORIZING EITHER PARTY TO REJECT ANY UNDERINSURED MOTORIST ARBITRATION AWARD EXCEEDING \$10,000.00 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE FLORIDA ARBITRATION CODE OR PUBLIC POLICY AND IS, THEREFORE, VALID AND BINDING.

Roe contends that the arbitration clause in question creates a situation whereby the insurer may unilaterally reject any arbitration award which exceeds the statutory minimum limit for bodily injury liability. Petitioner, however, mischaracterizes the arbitration clause involved in this case, and its effect. Petitioner also ignores the effect of his own actions in requesting arbitration and participating in arbitration without objection to the contract provision.

As set out more fully in the Statement of the Case and Facts, counsel for Petitioner demanded arbitration and informed Amica of his choice for arbitrator on January 21, 1986. (SA1) Amica responded by way of letter dated February 3, 1986 and agreed to submit the dispute to arbitration. (SA2) This demand was made without objection and with full awareness of the arbitration clause and the limitations contained therein. Petitioner then proceeded with arbitration, without objection, and subject to the limitations expressed in the contract.

At the conclusion of the arbitration proceeding, an arbitration award was returned in favor of Roe. At that time, Amica acted pursuant to the arbitration clause and demanded the

right to a trial within sixty days of the arbitrators' decision.

(A2)

The contract clause which authorizes either party to reject an arbitration award in excess of \$10,000.00 is both valid under the Florida Arbitration Code and Florida public policy. It is true that under Florida law, arbitration is clearly favored as a means of dispute resolution, and every reasonable presumption is indulged to uphold proceedings resulting in an award. Beach Resorts Intern. v. Clarmac Marine Construction Co., 339 So.2d 689 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). However, Section 682.02, Florida Statutes (1985) provides the parties may include in contracts:

[A] Two or more parties may agree in writing to submit to arbitration any controversy existing between them at the time of the agreement, or they may include in a written contract a provision for the settlement by arbitration of any controversy thereafter arising between them relating to such contract or the failure or refusal to perform the whole or any part thereof. Such agreement or provision shall be valid, enforceable and irrevocable without regard to the judicial character of the controversy; provided that this act shall not apply to any such agreement or provision to arbitrate in which is it stipulated this law shall not apply or to any arbitration or award thereunder. [emphasis added]

Additionally, Florida law supports the proposition that such arbitration agreements are binding only insofar as the parties have agreed to submit certain disputes to binding arbitration. In Pacemaker Corp. v. Euster, 357 So.2d 208 (Fla 3d DCA 1978) the agreement of the parties for binding arbitration was fixed within limits. The court found that such limited arbitration was

valid and it stated:

Arbitration should be only of those controversies or disputes which the parties have agreed to submit to arbitration.

Id at 210; see also, Frank J. Rooney, Inc. v. Charles W. Ackerman of Florida. 219 So.2d 110, 112 (Fla 3d DCA), cert dismiss. 230 So.2d 13 (Fla, 1969); Paine, Webber, Jackson & Curtis, Inc. v. Lucas, 411 So.2d 1369 (Fla 5th DCA 1982).

The arbitration provision at issue here complies both with the intent and requirements of Section 682.02, Florida Statutes (1985) and Florida law. In relevant part, the agreement provides:

A decision agreed to by two of the arbitrators will be binding as to:
1. Whether the covered person is legally entitled to recover damages; and
2. The amount of damages. This applies only if the amount does not exceed the minimum limit for bodily injury liability specified by the Financial Responsibility Law of the State in which your covered auto is principally garaged. If the amount exceeds that limit, either party may demand the right to a trial. This demand must be made within sixty days of the arbitrators' decision. If this demand is not made, the amount of damages agreed to by the arbitrators will be binding. (emphasis added)

As the District Court of Appeal found in its opinion below, this provision constitutes stipulation that any award in excess of \$10,000.00 will not be binding if either party demands a trial. Therefore, the parties did not agree to binding arbitration where, as in this case, the arbitration award exceeded \$10,000.00. The provision does not reserve to the insurer the right to unilaterally reject at will a displeasing

arbitration award. Arbitration awards up to and including \$10,000.00 will be binding on both parties. Arbitration awards in excess of that amount may be contested in a jury trial by either party. The parties had a right to distinguish by contract those personal injury claims that were under \$10,000.00 in value and those exceeding \$10,000.00.

The District Court of Appeal, Second District, found that as Chapter 682, Florida Statutes, (1985) permitted non-binding arbitration, the arbitration clause was not invalid under Florida Public Policy. The Petitioner and Amica specifically contracted that any arbitration proceeding for the determination of UM benefits would be binding only to the extent that the award did not exceed \$10,000.00. Neither party contemplated that an arbitration award would be binding under all circumstances.

The District Court of Appeal recognized that the parties' right to contract should not be denied unless clearly restricted by valid law. State v. British Leyland Motors, Inc., 1090 So.2d 576 (1st DCA 1974). When the right to contract is taken together with the language of Section 682.02, Florida Statutes (1985), it is clear that public policy does not prevent the parties from entering into a contract provision that provides for non-binding arbitration.

The District Court of Appeal, Third District, erred in its decision of Berger v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 515 So.2d 997 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). The Berger court based its decision on the premise that the parties therein had agreed to binding

arbitration pursuant to Chapter 682, Florida Statutes (1985). The Berger court specifically found that the Florida Arbitration Code, Section 682.01-.22, Florida Statutes (1985) requires binding arbitration in all circumstances.

In Berger, as in this case, it is obvious that the parties entered into an agreement where non-binding arbitration was contemplated should an award greater than \$10,000.00 be made by the arbitration panel. Neither party contemplated the arbitration would be binding under all circumstances and the Arbitration Code clearly does not require all arbitration to be binding or to be governed by Section 682, Florida Statutes. In that regard, the Third District erred and the Second District was eminently correct.

In this case, the District Court of Appeal, Second District, noted that the clause was not unfair but, as clearly contracted to between the parties, served a useful purpose. It allows for resolution of minor claims by arbitration while providing both parties an indication of the true value of larger claims through this testing procedure. The clause provides an objective indication of the value of larger claims and encourages settlement of these claims.

Furthermore, the Second District Court of Appeal found the provision does not provide the insurer a unilateral "escape clause" to nullify an arbitration award which was otherwise intended to be binding. Neither party intended an arbitration award in excess of \$10,000.00 to be governed by the Florida

Arbitration Code. The parties contemplated such awards would be subject to judicial review at the request of either party. Just as Amica invoked the provision for a jury trial where the arbitrator's award greatly exceeded \$10,000.00, the Roes, too, could have requested a jury trial had they found an award of slightly over \$10,000.00, but less than anticipated, to be unsatisfactory. Had the arbitrators in this case awarded the Petitioner less than he was satisfied with, Amica could hardly be heard to complain about his invocation of the identical provision.

The District Court in Berger v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co., 515 So.2d 997 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) dealt with a similar policy provision but under very different factual circumstances. In Berger, the plaintiff sought declaratory relief and moved for summary judgment seeking a determination that the arbitration provision was invalid and unenforceable. The plaintiff in Berger did not request arbitration and did not enter into or complete arbitration without objection, as has occurred in this case. Also, unlike Berger, counsel for the Petitioner in this case demanded arbitration pursuant to the disputed clause and was aware of the limitations contained therein. (SA1)

Petitioner argues that Amica's agreement to participate in the proceedings, bound Amica to any arbitration award entered thereafter despite the limitations contained in the arbitration provision. Through this argument, Roe attempts to avoid the consequences of his own actions by demanding arbitration and

participating in arbitration without objection. The trial court, and the District Court of Appeal, Second District, determined that both Petitioner and Amica had competent counsel prior to the arbitration proceeding and Petitioner was aware of the limitation clause contained in the arbitration provision.

Having taken advantage of the arbitration proceeding provided for in the policy without objection, Roe should now be estopped from arguing that the arbitration provision allowing either party to obtain a new trial where an award of more than \$10,000.00 is made, should not be binding. Taylor v. Kenco Chemical & Mfg. Corp., 465 So.2d 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Fisk v. Shelton, 469 So.2d 248 (Fla 2d DCA 1985); Hodkin v. Perry, 88 So.2d 139 (Fla. 1956); Wooten V. Rhodus, 470 So.2d 844 (Fla 5th DCA 1985).

The law of another progressive jurisdiction may be instructive. The New York courts have addressed the identical policy provision sought to be reviewed by Petitioner here. In the case of Reichel v. Government Employees Insurance Co., 487 N.Y.S.2d 99 (Ad2 Dept. 1985), the question to be resolved was whether an insurer was entitled to re-litigate all of the issues involved in a claim by trial de-novo, where the arbitration clause in a supplemental uninsured motorist insurance policy provided either party could request a trial where an arbitration award exceeded New York's financial responsibility liability limit. The court found that while New York law required arbitration provisions in the statutorily mandated uninsured

motorist coverage to be binding, the supplemental uninsured motorist coverage was not governed by a similar provision under New York law. As such, an insurer was found to have the right to a trial where the arbitrators' award exceeded the minimum bodily injury liability limits.

This holding was affirmed in the case of Reichel v. Government Employees Insurance Co., 499 N.Y.S.2d 385 (CT. APP. 1985). The Court held that either party could seek review of an arbitration award made pursuant to supplementary uninsured motorist coverage which exceeded the minimum liability requirements of the New York law. The court found no public policy or statutory reason to void the trial de novo provision, despite the fact that under the statutorily mandated uninsured motorist coverage, New York law provided for a binding arbitration.

In Florida, of course, there is no statutory provision requiring binding arbitration in disputes involving underinsured motorist coverage. In fact, the Florida Arbitration Code allows non-binding arbitration where the parties have agreed to such. Such an agreement was entered into in this case and allowed either party the right to judicial review by trial.

Should this court find that the arbitration provision is null and void, this court should adopt the result reached in Berger v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 515 So.2d 997 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). The Court in Berger held that the entire arbitration clause was void and litigation between the parties

was required. Where an agreement or provision of an agreement is null and void under a statute, or public policy, the agreement or the clause is void ab initio. Thomas v. Ratiner, 462 So.2d 1157, 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); Title & Trust Co. of Florida v. Parker, 468 So.2d 520, 524 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

If there is found to be no arbitration provision in the contract because of its invalidity, then there was no right by either party to demand or proceed with arbitration. Parties to a dispute have no right to arbitration unless it is provided for by contract or statute. When there is no statutory or contractual requirement to submit a claim to arbitration, it is error to require arbitration. Allstate Insurance Co. v. Duffy, 237 So.2d 225 (Fla 3d DCA 1970).

Florida law requires that when an arbitration agreement is held invalid, for whatever reason, the parties must resolve their dispute in the courts. Where an agreement is ambiguous to whether disputes are to be resolved by arbitration, such is construed against arbitration. Wood - Hopkins Contracting Co. v. C. H. Barco Contracting Co., 301 So.2d 479, 480 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). Should this court find that the arbitration agreement failed to comply with the arbitration code, it cannot be binding. Arbitration agreements are non-enforceable when they do not comply with the Florida Arbitration Code. Knight v. A. S. Equities, Inc., 280 So.2d 456, 459 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973)

ARGUMENT

COUNT II

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